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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Good morning.

          3  Thank you for being seated.  The Committee on

          4  Governmental Operations is called to order.

          5                 We are going to be discussing Intro.

          6  657, and that is a local law to amend the

          7  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          8  relation to expressive activities on the steps of

          9  City Hall and the areas adjacent to the steps to be

         10  known as the City Hall Access Law.  This Intro is to

         11  add a new Section 4-207 to Chapter 2 of Title 4.

         12                 The steps of City Hall and the areas

         13  adjacent have long served as settings for press

         14  conferences, public ceremonies, political or other

         15  ideological expressive gatherings among individuals

         16  engaged in peaceful protest.

         17                 However, in recent years

         18  controversies have developed with respect to the

         19  circumstances and conditions under which individuals

         20  and various groups have been granted or denied

         21  access to the steps of City Hall for the purpose of

         22  engaging in such expressive activities  Many of

         23  these actions have led to litigations against the

         24  City.

         25                 The right of access to public
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          2  buildings and the right to petition the government

          3  find their source in the United States Constitution,

          4  in particular, the First Amendment's free speech and

          5  right to petition clauses, as well as the due

          6  process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth

          7  Amendments and the New York State Constitution.

          8  However, it is important to take into consideration

          9  that in providing access to such forums to the

         10  members of the public there is a need to balance the

         11  compelling concern to preserve safety and security

         12  with the fundamental right to freedom of expression.

         13                 I believe that Intro. No. 657

         14  establishes such a balance.  The proposed bill

         15  authorizes the Department of City- wide

         16  Administrative Services, which is DCAS, to monitor,

         17  regulate and manage the use of the steps of City

         18  Hall for expressive purposes consistent with the

         19  constitutional safeguards required by the United

         20  States Constitution, the New York State Constitution

         21  and case law interpreting this fundamental freedom.

         22                 Before we hear our witnesses, the

         23  Speaker of the Council, the Honorable Peter V.

         24  Vallone will, Peter F. Vallone, I gave him a new

         25  name, I baptize thee again, Peter F. Vallone will
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          2  make a statement at this time.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Thank you very

          4  much, Madam Chair, my colleagues and the Council.  I

          5  consider this to be a very important meeting.

          6                 I think that the essence of our

          7  Democracy is the ideal of civic participation and

          8  the right of the people to petition their elected

          9  officials.  This is a fundamental right clearly

         10  stated in our Constitution and it's the heart for

         11  elected government.

         12                 And since I arrived with you, Madam

         13  Chair, at City Hall 25 years ago, we have seen all

         14  types of people addressing all types of issues on

         15  the steps of City Hall.  Democracy is not always

         16  pretty, it can be contentious, loud, disorderly and

         17  even offensive. I think that any one of us in public

         18  service and in public office has experienced that in

         19  one form or another.

         20                 But it is so vital to the functioning

         21  of a free and open government that we tolerate

         22  almost all of it.  Unfortunately, in the last year

         23  City Hall has been relatively and exceptionally

         24  quiet.

         25                 The renovations have left a huge,
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          2  empty plaza, devoid of the hustle and bustle of both

          3  New Yorkers, and, indeed, of Democracy, itself.

          4                 Now we take threats to our security

          5  very, very seriously, but we must not allow the

          6  enemies of freedom to dictate the workings of

          7  Democracy.

          8                 We are having this hearing so that

          9  everyone has an opportunity to voice their opinions.

         10                 The specifics of this law or any

         11  other local law are always open to change, but our

         12  goal is clear, and our goal is not open to change.

         13  And our goal is to reopen City Hall Plaza to the

         14  citizens of New York and the people of the world.

         15                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair, and

         16  look forward with great expectations that we will

         17  soon have legislation that will do exactly that.  I

         18  give City Hall Plaza and the steps of City Hall back

         19  to the people who not only pay for it, but who we

         20  exist to serve.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Thank you, Mr.

         22  Speaker.

         23                 At this time I would like to first

         24  recognize the members of the Committee who are

         25  seated here, and to far right, Council Member Rivera
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          2  from the Bronx; Council Member Julia Harrison from

          3  Queens; Council Member Carrion from the Bronx;

          4  Council Member Reed, who is from Manhattan and the

          5  Bronx; and, of course, we have other members who are

          6  in attendance at various Committees and meetings and

          7  will be joining us.  Good, now Council Member Reed

          8  is an example of what I am referring to, he is a

          9  member of both Committees and so he will be perhaps

         10  leaving to go back and forth and you will understand

         11  what we mean by this.  I'm Councilwoman Pinkett and

         12  I am from Brooklyn.

         13                 Our first speaker is, we have no one

         14  from the Administration who is present, is there

         15  anyone from the Administration who is present to

         16  give testimony?  I ask that question because usually

         17  the Administration does appear to speak on behalf of

         18  or in opposition to legislation.  Hearing no

         19  response, our first witness will be Tony Suber on

         20  behalf of the Bronx Borough President.

         21                 Would you please identify yourself

         22  for the record and take a seat?

         23                 MR. SUBER:  Good morning.  My name is

         24  Tony Suber and I'm representing the Bronx Borough

         25  President Ferrer.
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          2                 Good morning to the distinguished

          3  members of the Council, and I'm going to read a

          4  statement.

          5                  "Good morning.  I am Fernando

          6  Ferrer, President of the Borough of the Bronx.

          7                 Direct access to elected officials is

          8  a cherished right of the American people.  Indeed,

          9  directly across from the entrance of this building,

         10  Madame Chairwoman, rests the statue of Nathan Hale,

         11  who gave his life in a revolution begun because

         12  government had grown too distant from those it

         13  purported to rule.

         14                 For the past two years, the Mayor has

         15  broken with tradition and has selectively placed

         16  City Hall off- limits to its real owners, those

         17  people who pay his bills, and who have the right to

         18  decide who uses it.  There has been no specific

         19  reason given for this action, other than vague

         20  comments about potential security problems.

         21                 The disruption of the long- standing

         22  practice which readily allowed New Yorkers to

         23  appropriately and lawfully present their views at

         24  the seat of their municipal government is deeply

         25  troubling, as is the selective manner in which

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  exceptions to this new and harsh rule have been

          3  made.

          4                 The opportunity to peacefully present

          5  viewpoints to City Hall in an orderly manner must

          6  not be dependent on whether an incumbent Mayor

          7  happens to agree with the perspective of those

          8  seeking to do so.  Further, the ability to assemble

          9  in an orderly manner to petition government must not

         10  be discouraged by unnecessarily restrictive

         11  measures.  Democracy was instituted for the benefit

         12  of the citizenry, not for the convenience of those

         13  selected by the people to govern.

         14                 Neither our Constitution nor our City

         15  Charter restricts the right to petition government

         16  to those in favor with the current authorities.

         17  This Council should act expeditiously to assure all

         18  New Yorkers of their access to what is, indeed,

         19  their City Hall."

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Thank you very

         22  much.  Were there any questions for Mr. Suber?

         23  Okay, Jennifer Flynn, Gene Russianoff.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Good morning,

         25  Speaker Vallone, Chairwoman Pinkett, and members and
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          2  staff of the Committee.  My name is Gene Russianoff.

          3    I'm with the New York Public Interest Research

          4  Group, distributing a written statement of mine, and

          5  I'm just going to make some brief points based on

          6  it.

          7                 NYPIRG applauds Speaker Vallone and

          8  Chairwoman Pinkett and 22 sponsors for introducing

          9  this legislation to attempt to reverse Mayor

         10  Giuliani's outrageous restrictions on access to the

         11  City Hall steps and plaza area.  These restrictions

         12  have turned what was a vibrant and free marketplace

         13  of ideas and civic energy into a lifeless space.

         14                 Intro. 657 is a serious and sincere

         15  effort to reduce government intrusion into a debate

         16  in and around City Hall.  But in NYPIRG's view, the

         17  bill needs substantial drafting to win our support,

         18  and without major changes, we're concerned that it

         19  would make permanent a permitting scheme that trods

         20  too roughly on First Amendment Rights.  Without

         21  major changes in the Intro., it would, in our view,

         22  be better to wait to see how a new Mayor might open

         23  access to City Hall steps.

         24                 I'm a veteran of many news

         25  conferences and events on the City Hall steps.  I
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          2  lived through nearly 20 years of unregulated free

          3  speech activity, which I think was healthy and did

          4  not pose a security hazard to the City, and groups

          5  like mine would like to see it return to that.

          6                 In my testimony I detailed several of

          7  the changes that we would like to see.  I'm just

          8  going to focus briefly on four of those changes,

          9  which I hope the Committee would consider.

         10                 The first deals with the issue of the

         11  legislation saying that if you have an event of 50

         12  or more people that triggers a need for a permit.

         13  In our view that is too restrictive.  The City Hall

         14  steps can easily and safely accommodate considerably

         15  more than 50 people without endangering safety or

         16  blocking or disrupting governmental business.  In

         17  addition, the 50- person cannot be reconciled with

         18  the provision in the bill that would allow elected

         19  officials unlimited numbers of people on the steps

         20  of City Hall. In NYPIRG's view a no permitting

         21  system is necessary given the long history of

         22  peaceful news conferences and events.  At a minimum

         23  50 is too low a number to trigger permitting

         24  process.  We urge that consideration be given to

         25  alternatives, such as, instead of a permitting
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          2  process, a two- day advance notice for larger

          3  gatherings, but not requiring applying for a permit.

          4                 The second deals with structures.

          5  The bill says you can't place a structure, like a

          6  tent or enumerated several things that you can't

          7  place on City Hall, but it's vague.  And as someone

          8  who showed up at City Hall several times with, let's

          9  say, flamboyant props, a roulette wheel, a transit

         10  wheel of misfortune one year we showed up with, a

         11  life size cardboard cutout of an elected official,

         12  although none of the officials here were that

         13  cardboard cutout.  We're concerned that the

         14  legislation is too vague and that you would limit

         15  the kinds of things people could bring to express

         16  their views about civic and public issue, so we ask

         17  you to look at the definition of your limits on

         18  structures.

         19                 Third, the bill allows the

         20  Commissioner of City- wide Administrative Services

         21  to promulgate rules, and I quoted, "To cause the

         22  suspension of activities on the steps of City Hall

         23  for exigent circumstances where necessary to assure

         24  the preservation of the public safety."  This is, in

         25  our view, too broad and vague grant of authority, it
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          2  could lead to exactly the same situation we have

          3  now, a state of siege that goes on month after month

          4  after month without any end in sight, and we think

          5  this is too restrictive.

          6                 And lastly, and I guess this will be

          7  a touchy issue with elected officials here, but the

          8  bill exempts from any other limits and any of the

          9  permitting events held by elected officials, which I

         10  assume applies not only to Council members, but the

         11  State, City and Federal officials, school board

         12  members, perhaps elected party officials.  Our view,

         13  elected officials should play by the same rules as

         14  the public, and I think that is what the courts

         15  would say if this legislation were to be enacted, I

         16  think a court would strike down treating the public

         17  differently than it does elected officials.  And

         18  there is a fairness issue here, in all candor, why

         19  should you, standing on the steps of City Hall be

         20  able to announce your re- election bid, or a bid for

         21  another office, but somebody who is not an elected

         22  official be limited to the 50 persons limit that is

         23  in the bill?

         24                 So those are some comments, there are

         25  other suggestions we have made.  We had an
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          2  opportunity to meet with the Council's legal

          3  division earlier this week, you have been very

          4  accessible and responsive to us, we would like to

          5  work with you, but this is legislation, what you do

          6  will be permanent.  And there is a very good chance,

          7  actually a near certainty that the Mayor would

          8  litigate this legislation should it pass the

          9  Council.  So if that is the case, we want a piece of

         10  legislation that really gives the public access to

         11  City Hall steps and it is worth taking the energy

         12  and time to debate it.

         13                 And I appreciate the opportunity to

         14  be here this morning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Speaker

         16  Vallone.

         17                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Thank you, Madam

         18  Chair.  Thanks Gene, for your testimony, and

         19  obviously, as I indicated we will change specifics,

         20  but we're very interested in the same goal.

         21                 I would like the record to indicate,

         22  based upon your experience how many press

         23  conferences would you say you participated in over

         24  the last decade?

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  I don't know, if I
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          2  come up with a number it will be sort of highly

          3  unflattering to me, but, you know, I would certainly

          4   - -

          5                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Well, let's say how

          6  many have you witnessed?

          7                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Well, you know,

          8  many, many scores of news conferences.

          9                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  I guess in my 25

         10  years I participated or witnessed in hundreds and

         11  hundreds of them.  How many would you say have more

         12  than 50 people?

         13                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  A minority of the

         14  news conferences.

         15                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  One out of 100?

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  I, you know, didn't

         17  keep tab.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Well based upon my

         19  experience that would be a generous figure, very,

         20  very rarely is there a group of more than 50 people

         21  without some kind of advance notification, if you're

         22  going to have Yankee Stadium or something,

         23  obviously, it's all together different.  But most

         24  press conferences are limited to less than a dozen,

         25  very rarely more than a dozen people.
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          2                 Would you not agree with me that that

          3  was the joy of the steps of City Hall, all of these

          4  little press conferences going on, and people giving

          5  out press releases, and asking for the media to

          6  come, and there were dozens at the same time, but

          7  very rarely, if ever, where there was one large

          8  press conference which stopped everyone else from

          9  participating?

         10                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Although sometimes

         11  the steps were chocked full of people, I know

         12  because I had reporters race from whatever news

         13  conference I was doing to something else on the

         14  steps of City Hall, all going on at the same time,

         15  you know, and mayhem did not ensure by the fact that

         16  there were a substantial number of people on the

         17  steps of City Hall.

         18                 We recently did a conference around

         19  the issue of lead paint hazards and it had more than

         20  50 people because there were community

         21  representatives from all over the City, and we

         22  debated this internally.  I think for a group like

         23  NYPIRG, who is more, more of a participant than the

         24  process, we probably, as an individual group could

         25  live with the 50 number, but we're just one of many
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          2  different interests in the City, and I think the

          3  burden would be on the Council to demonstrate that

          4  number if justified, is it an issue of blocking

          5  access, is time an issue of safety and security?

          6  And I don't think either the record or the

          7  legislation backs it up right now.  And, of course,

          8  there is the issue of elected officials.  If the 50

          9  rule is good enough - -

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  The elected

         11  official situation was one that was based upon the

         12  concern that the overriding public safety concern

         13  that always exists, where the Police Department have

         14  ultimate control in cases of a threat made to City

         15  Hall or something of that nature.  Elected officials

         16  are known, obviously, to the people because they

         17  elected them, and they should be known also to the

         18  police whose charge is our charge to protect public

         19  buildings.

         20                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Well in all

         21  fairness, the legislation, I believe, would allow

         22  the 270 plus school board members elected in the

         23  City to hold news conferences without unlimited

         24  numbers of people, without any limits on the number

         25  of people, those individuals are not known to City
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          2  Hall.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  No, I mean, they by

          4  virtue of, but let's assume that that is taken out

          5  of the legislation and we're back to the numbers.

          6  My original question was, and I think you agree,

          7  that it is rare that you have press conferences with

          8  more than 50 people?

          9                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  But it's not unheard

         10  of, and I think any restriction on First Amendment

         11  Rights like this requires the Council to develop a

         12  record that supports that limit.  And I think the

         13  limit - -

         14                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  That is what I'm

         15  doing right now, Gene.

         16                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Okay, and I'm doing

         17  my best to get you up.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  But you still have

         19  to answer my question.  How many, do you agree, yes

         20  or no, that the great, great, great majority of

         21  press conferences are less than 50 people?

         22  If you can't answer it, say you can't answer.

         23                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  My answer is, you

         24  know, not at City Hall, I'm not at City Hall every

         25  day so I can't tell you.  I know it seems to me that
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          2  the majority of news conferences by elected

          3  officials announcing for election or for re-

          4  election frequently tops 50, and in fact, - -

          5                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  How did we get to

          6  elected officials announcing for election, I mean,

          7  can't you answer a question, yes or no?  Is it

          8  difficult for you to say that you have witnessed

          9  press conferences and that most of them, a great

         10  majority are less than 50?

         11                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  I answered in a very

         12  straightforward way before, my own experience, which

         13  is, you know, limited, the number of news

         14  conferences of 50 or more are minority of the total

         15  news conferences.  But - -

         16                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Fine, that was an

         17  answer, believe it or not.  Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Council Member

         19  Carrion.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION:  Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair. Gene, I just want to ask, when you

         22  started your testimony you suggested that we might

         23  possibly delay this until the next, until the new

         24  Mayor comes in?

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  What I was saying is
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          2  the choice for groups, like mine is to look at what

          3  the Council is proposing as legislation, is it a

          4  step forward, and if it has serious First Amendment

          5  problems, then our other choice is to wait and see

          6  when the next Mayor could come, which could be as

          7  early as the end of next year.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION:  Thanks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Any other

         10  questions?  I think the most important thing to say

         11  is that we have heard your comments, my mic is on,

         12  could you hear me?

         13                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Yes, yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay fine.  I

         15  think we have heard your comments, and there will be

         16  discussion around all of the issues that you have

         17  raised.  I think there are many issues that germane

         18  for consideration, there will be further

         19  discussions, and you will be, of course, aware of

         20  them probably participate in some and be apprised of

         21  any changes, and we thank you for your testimony at

         22  this time.

         23                 MR. RUSSIANOFF:  Thank you, Madam

         24  Chairwoman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay.
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          2  Connected Nugent, would you please identify yourself

          3  by name and who you represent?

          4                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Madam Chairwoman,

          5  my name is Conn Nugent.  I am the Executive Director

          6  of the Citizen's Union of the City of New York.

          7  Madam Chairwoman, I have no written prepared

          8  testimony because I met on this issue with the

          9  leadership of Citizen's Union just last night.  We

         10  have, however, carefully reviewed the resolution,

         11  and I am prepared to testify in oral remarks, and

         12  I'm certainly pleased to entertain questions.

         13                 First of all, we think that the very

         14  fact that this legislation is required, and we do

         15  think it is required, is lamentable that the turn of

         16  events has succeeded so that the citizenry of this

         17  City seems to be compelled away from the temple of

         18  its governance, we regard is a sad state of affairs.

         19    And we congratulate the Council and Speaker

         20  Vallone for introducing this legislation.  We think

         21  it is on balance, good legislation.

         22                 We think that the idea of keeping the

         23  plaza in front of City Hall opened to citizens is

         24  very sound.  We also agree that there should be,

         25  indeed, must be some number named beyond which a
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          2  permitting or notice process must be triggered.  The

          3  question is, Mr. Russianoff alluded to earlier in

          4  his conversation with the Speaker, is, what is the

          5  appropriate number.

          6                 We would agree with Mr. Russianoff

          7  that 50 may be too low of a number, and we can give

          8  you some specific reasons why. If the number 50

          9  determines or is determined by the size of the group

         10  holding the press conference, it seems to us more

         11  reasonable than if the number 50 is used to count

         12  the number persons who end up at a press conference.

         13    Very often in our experience, Madam Chairwoman, a

         14  community group will gather onto he steps, let us

         15  imagine that there are 40 members of a community

         16  group that gather on the steps to protest a late-

         17  breaking event in their neighborhood.  Let us then

         18  imagine that some newspaper persons and reporters

         19  from the television stations are attracted to this

         20  news worthy demonstration, come in numbers of 10,

         21  15, even 20.  Let us further suppose that elected

         22  officials concerned with this issue, hearing of this

         23  news conference, wanting to be heard by the media

         24  also attend this group, where then is the 50

         25  defined, is the 50 defined at the gates toward City
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          2  Hall Park, is it defined by the number of persons

          3  who end up participating in the conference? These

          4  are not particularly major points, Madam Chairwoman,

          5  but they're not peripheral either, and perhaps if

          6  the legislation were to spell out when that number

          7  is counted and when it is not counted, that could be

          8  useful.

          9                 We don't particularly quibble with

         10  the need to have a number, we merely ask, as Mr.

         11  Russianoff did, for there to be a rational basis

         12  presented for the number, and for there to be a

         13  clear standard at which time that number is

         14  calculated.

         15                 We also applaud the legislation for

         16  placing all permitting power in the hands of the

         17  Commissioner of City- wide Administrative Services.

         18  Our concern runs to assurances that his or her

         19  exercise of power shall be as independent as

         20  possible, and we believe that it is as important in

         21  municipal matters to establish the civilian chain of

         22  command control as it is in Federal matters for

         23  there to be essential civilian exercise of command

         24  over the exercises of the Department of Defense.  So

         25  we applaud that.
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          2                 We also applaud and here we part

          3  company with Mr. Russianoff ever so slightly, we

          4  applaud the clause banning structures from the City

          5  Hall steps and we regard the language crafted for

          6  that purpose to be acceptable.

          7                 We do have some suggestions for

          8  improvements on the bill.  Like Mr. Russianoff, and

          9  apparently perhaps, like Speaker Vallone, we do not

         10  believe that a special clause exempting elected

         11  officials is either necessary or wise.  Elected

         12  officials can exercise the rights available to any

         13  citizen, and under the same terms of this

         14  legislation should feel no constraints, no

         15  compunction to gather on the steps of what, after

         16  all, is public property.

         17                 One question not touched upon by the

         18  legislation, which we urge this Committee to

         19  consider, Madam Chairwoman, is the question of

         20  inclement weather, and, if you will, an expansive

         21  definition of what City Hall steps means.  In the

         22  past, during a rain storm or a snowy day, it has

         23  been the habit of many neighborhood groups and

         24  community activists to gather in the near lobby of

         25  the City Hall within the portico, and there is no
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          2  illusion in the legislation to such a situation, and

          3  you might want to think about it.  The proctocolitis

          4  of public gathering in inclement weather, we think,

          5  might indicate that such thoughts might occur.

          6                 Finally, some ancillary measures,

          7  which we hope that this Committee might take up, if

          8  no in this legislation, perhaps in some legislation

          9  to come.  Although, we do think, in fact, this

         10  legislation would be an appropriate vehicle for such

         11  considerations.

         12                 1.  Once a person from an

         13  organization, such as us, or, indeed, any

         14  organization has gained entrance to City Hall Plaza,

         15  it strikes us as demeaning and unnecessary from a

         16  security point of view to be shunted through the

         17  basement.  Let us allow ourselves to walk up the

         18  front steps of our City Hall.

         19                 2.  We think that legislative memos,

         20  a notice of Council Committee hearings, if you will,

         21  public display and easily obtained information about

         22  and materials on particular hearings, the schedule

         23  of hearings, the substance of hearings, various

         24  points of view on matters being considered at

         25  hearings should be more easily, more readily, more
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          2  visibly available to the public and to those who

          3  work in the public's organizations.

          4                 That having been said, Madam

          5  Chairwoman, Congratulations to this Committee for

          6  this legislation on balance, we certainly support

          7  it, as we regret the fact of its necessity.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  I wonder as we

         10  discuss this, you refer to this as the people's City

         11  Hall, the people's Plaza, the people's right, the

         12  people's role in terms of coming to City Hall and in

         13  the Plaza and on the steps and coming up the steps,

         14  and yet what we're doing is redefining the role of

         15  the public in terms of their access to their plaza

         16  to the steps and to the hall.  Do you agree?

         17                 MR. NUGENT:  I do agree, Council

         18  member, and among the sadness of public life today

         19  is that one must consider security reasons.  The

         20  fact that there need be any legislation at all in

         21  this regard is a vow to concerns about security.

         22  Were there not any concerns about security, it is

         23  tempting at lest, to attempt no legislation in this

         24  regard, and merely let the people have their say and

         25  to have security exercised as appropriate.
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          2                 We do recognize from testimony from

          3  police officials and other relevant officials that

          4  there, indeed, are security threats that are made.

          5  We also believe that those security threats rarely

          6  come from the type of political gathering, rarely if

          7  ever come, from the type of political gatherings

          8  which we're talking.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  The threats

         10  came as a result of gatherings at City Hall.

         11                 MR. NUGENT:  I'm not aware of any.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Oh, okay.

         13                 MR. NUGENT:  I don't know where I

         14  have been.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  That would be

         16  the concern, it seems to me that we're using that as

         17  the basis for setting a structure in place.

         18                 MR. NUGENT:  That is right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay, I can see

         20  saying that there is, indeed, a need to have a

         21  structure to be concerned about security, and that

         22  concern seems to me to embody in the number of

         23  police officers we have, we have far more than we

         24  ever had before at City Hall.  Would you agree?

         25                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am, by the
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          2  evidence of eyesight.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  We have enough

          4  police officers now to have our own precinct here.

          5  Would you agree?  We could be a precinct.  Would you

          6  agree?

          7                 MR. NUGENT:  So it appears.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay, we also

          9  have cameras now.  Would you agree?

         10                 MR. NUGENT:  I'm sorry?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  We have cameras

         12  now.

         13                 MR. NUGENT:  Many.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Many, so in a

         15  sense that is part of the security; is that not

         16  true?

         17                 MR. NUGENT:  It seems to be, Madam.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay, so would

         19  you take all of that as part of the security

         20  restriction or corrective measure in terms of

         21  providing for knowing what is going on?

         22                 MR. NUGENT:  I think that those are

         23  wise steps both the provision of police officers and

         24  the placement of cameras.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  I'm not talking
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          2  whether they're wise or not, I'm just saying - -

          3                 MR. NUGENT:  Whether they are

          4  sufficient to meet every security need, I'm not

          5  capable to say.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:   Apparently you

          7  can't get in unless you go through the gates now; is

          8  that correct?

          9                 MR. NUGENT:  That is correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay, so that

         11  there has been additional security measures in

         12  place?

         13                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, absolutely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay, so we

         15  have taken many steps in order to ensure security.

         16                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay.  Now the

         18  other question I would ask because I think that when

         19  we talk about then letting people in the house,

         20  which is what you're talking about when you say,

         21  well, we should go up the steps inside the house.

         22                 MR. NUGENT:  We should consider that

         23  situation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Well I think

         25  there is no problem with that, but the question is,
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          2  do you feel comfortable given your prior statement

          3  in requesting that that be considered?

          4                 MR. NUGENT:  I feel comfortably, yes,

          5  in definitely requesting that that be considered

          6  because of the frequency in which that situation

          7  occurs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay.  Now do

          9  you feel in any way that this legislation is

         10  inhibiting anyone in terms of their rights as a

         11  citizen?

         12                 MR. NUGENT:  I think the legislation

         13  as drafted slightly inhibits the exercise of

         14  constitutional freedoms as any police power

         15  necessarily must.  And the question is a fine

         16  balance between where you draw the line as to free

         17  and unpermitted exercise of constitutional rights,

         18  and where a permit process must be government the

         19  exercise of those rights.  And that is why this bill

         20  has attempted to set situations by which that line

         21  is drawn.  We would argue along with Mr. Russianoff

         22  that that number may be too low, but nonetheless we

         23  do agree that a number may be set.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  So the only

         25  condition you would say would be the number, the
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          2  access through the, to make arrangements for rain

          3  conditions, the access also to the building for

          4  various reasons, the request for information on a

          5  freer basis,- -

          6                 MR. NUGENT:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: - -  more

          8  readily available.

          9                 MR. NUGENT:  That is right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay.

         11                 MR. NUGENT:  Thank you very much,

         12  that was an excellent summary.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Okay, Council

         14  Member Harrison, you have a question also.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Well I have

         16  a question in terms of the comment you made that

         17  DCAS would be an impartial kind of arbiter in terms

         18  of determining the use of the facilities, I think

         19  you said something to that effect.

         20                 MR. NUGENT:  We thought is very

         21  important that the independents of the Commissioner

         22  be assured.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Well now I

         24  question that.

         25                 MR. NUGENT:  All right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  I mean any

          3  Commissioner is an appointee of the Mayor.

          4                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Where does

          6  independence come in, I do not see that any

          7  Commissioner is an independent actor in this

          8  political scene, he is only a reflection of someone

          9  who is calling the shots.

         10                 MR. NUGENT:  That is correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  So I would

         12  question your assumption that he would be an

         13  independent, that's all, I'm not going to argue the

         14  point.

         15                 MR. NUGENT:  Fair enough, no, nor

         16  would I argue that point, if it was not so much an

         17  assumption as a hope of an assurance message.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON:  Oh, my

         19  darling.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  It would be

         21  better off under the Public Advocate.

         22                 Council Member Rivera.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair. Good morning.  It was approximately

         25  five and one- half years ago that both Public
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          2  Advocate Mark Green and myself were denied for the

          3  first time, what used to be a tradition, the use of

          4  the steps of City Hall to hold a press conference,

          5  he on one issue, I on the other.  I immediately

          6  attempted to introduce a resolution reminding

          7  everyone that the steps of City Hall happens to be

          8  part of America and America stands for the right to

          9  freedom of speech.

         10                 So I welcome this piece of

         11  legislation, Madam Chair. I see Mr. Gene, NYPIRG

         12  seems to be leaving, I recalled that we approached

         13  NYPIRG at that time, but there were too many

         14  pressing issues at that time in order to deal with

         15  that piece of resolution. But I would like to ask

         16  you a question, Sir, is your thinking similar to Mr.

         17  Gene Russianoff that while this piece of legislation

         18  is very important, that "we might consider waiting

         19  until the next administration, that might come as

         20  soon as next year," what he had said?  I don't know

         21  if that is an endorsement to Rudy Giuliani from Gene

         22  Russianoff, it sounded to me like how soon, do you

         23  think that we're rushing into this piece of

         24  legislation, or do we need it now, or can we wait

         25  till the next Administration?
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          2                 MR. NUGENT:  I don't think that this

          3  Committee or this Council has rushed, I don't think

          4  there is any need to wait, I think tomorrow is not

          5  too soon, Council Member Rivera.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  The other

          7  question, the issue about allowing over 50 people on

          8  the steps of City Hall, and I give you a moment, the

          9  Speaker asked a question, and it seems like in the

         10  piece of legislation we want to limit to 50.  I'm

         11  just curious how, I have also witnessed in the past

         12  more than on a press conference where there has been

         13  over 50 people, I would like to know what is your

         14  thinking about how we can work out the number? I

         15  would like to see more than 150 people gathering for

         16  more than one press conference, I'm drawing to draw

         17  the attention of Fran Lombardi from the Daily News,

         18  David Siesman from the Post, because we have

         19  competed on the steps of City Hall for the

         20  attention, well that might be another issue.  But I

         21  would like to know how do you see these things, how

         22  can we deal with it?

         23                 MR. NUGENT:  I think, as I said

         24  Council member, I think a number, it is reasonable

         25  to set a number, Citizens Union thinks 50 is too
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          2  low, I might suggest 100, that would not

          3  accommodate, 100 by which, by the way, a permit

          4  process is triggered, and Council Member Harrison

          5  has already indicated some of the problematic

          6  aspects of that.  But, nonetheless, we do support a

          7  general permitting process, but probably put that

          8  number closer to 100, Council Member Rivera, and we

          9  would probably also ask for a stipulation that the

         10  100 be counted of those who congregate at the gates

         11  wanting to get in, rather than the news media and

         12  elected officials who would gather to argument the

         13  size of the original congregation.  Do I make myself

         14  clear on that?

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Question,

         17  perhaps a comment, when you have groups of people

         18  who have questions and concerns, and you restrict

         19  the number, let's say to 50, do you automatically,

         20  or 100 as you say, do you automatically say that

         21  people can no longer come as traditionally Americans

         22  have been able to come to petition government as

         23  they formally could, because you have got to count

         24  noses, and you say, oh, I'm sorry you cannot come.

         25  In other words, you control the ability of the
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          2  people to be able to say I want to speak government,

          3  and thereby, inhibit access.  Is that a possibility,

          4  has that been discussed in your organization?

          5                 MR. NUGENT:  Well, Madam Chairwoman,

          6  there is a lively discussion in the public and

          7  within our own organization as where, what is the

          8  appropriate exercise of the police power inherent in

          9  any constitutional right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  We weren't

         11  talking police power.

         12                 MR. NUGENT:  Well, I'm sorry.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  No, I was

         14  talking access to government, you know, the ability

         15  to appeal to government not police power.  We're not

         16  talking police at this point, we're talking about

         17  the right of a people to appeal to government, how

         18  then do you do this?

         19                 MR. NUGENT:  Well, obviously, an

         20  organization like ours, Council member, exists

         21  because of the right in trying in our constitutions

         22  to appeal to the government, to petition for

         23  grievance.  We are both a beneficiary and a defender

         24  of that right, it is terribly important to us to

         25  revive a sense of public ownership of public spaces
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          2  and public buildings.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  And that was

          4  the question I was hoping - -

          5                 MR. NUGENT:  So we agree with you

          6  entirely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: - -  that you

          8  would come back to us with an answer on, to give

          9  some thoughts about, to give us some direction on

         10  that.  I would like to hear an answer after you

         11  think about it.

         12                 MR. NUGENT:  Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Thank you.

         14                 MR. NUGENT:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  And that is not

         16  to put you on the spot, and I give NYPIRG the same

         17  kind of responsibility, because I think this is an

         18  issue that must be resolved, the fact that people

         19  having to go to the basement as opposed to coming in

         20  the front door, that is a very important issue.

         21                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am, we agree.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  That is a very

         23  important issue.

         24                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:   I think also
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          2  the fact if it rains and I have people who are

          3  willing to come down in the rain, what provisions

          4  are we prepared to make, that is an important issue.

          5                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  So I think,

          7  again, I want to hear some responses, so that when

          8  you have your next meeting with legal, we have an

          9  indication, at least, of your thinking, so, at

         10  least, we can have some intelligent dialogue on

         11  those matters, and I think that is very, very

         12  important.  I think the issue thought of allowing,

         13  not allowing, of reopening the plaza to the people

         14  is so important that it is very, very important that

         15  we put our minds to work so that we work cohesively

         16  and think through this problem, so that we come up

         17  with that which is intelligent and beneficial to the

         18  people and to the Council.  I don't think any of us

         19  here would have a problem with saying that the

         20  Council or legislators should not have special

         21  privileges, meaning, have some special, some of us

         22  may have some special concerns, that most of us

         23  wouldn't have.  But actually in terms of whether or

         24  not people ought to have the right to come to the

         25  place that they paid so much for and walk up those
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          2  steps, that they have paid for, and that they have

          3  paid for it, they have become a menace, their tax

          4  dollars paid for it.  How dared you, or anyone else

          5  say, we would reserve the right to limit your access

          6  to that building, you must go to the back door or

          7  around, I never liked back doors, we had them too

          8  long.

          9                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  I don't want

         11  them anymore.  So would you please consider that,

         12  and we will call upon you and others who might have

         13  some suggestions to assist us.

         14                 MR. NUGENT:  Yes, Ma'am.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  All right?

         16  Thank you so much.

         17                 MR. NUGENT:  Thank you so much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Council Member

         19  Sabini was also in the other Committee, because he

         20  too, as I stated before, was here earlier, but he is

         21  also a member of the other Committee. Council Member

         22  Sabini, do you have any questions on this issue?

         23  Okay.

         24                 MR. NUGENT:  Thank you very much,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT:  Now then I am

          3  going to ask is there anyone here who was supposed

          4  to testify and did not have an opportunity to offer

          5  testimony?

          6                 Or the other charge I would like to

          7  give you, is, you must consider also, Council Member

          8  Harrison's concern regarding the issue of

          9  independence, that is a very important question, and

         10  that I think should be thoughtfully considered, very

         11  thoughtfully considered.  Okay?

         12                 All right, is there anyone here who

         13  was supposed to testify and who has not been called?

         14                 Is there anyone here who was supposed

         15  to testify and did not have an opportunity to offer

         16  testimony?

         17                 Hearing none, this meeting is now

         18  adjourned.  Thank you so very much for your

         19  cooperation.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 10:50 a.m.)
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